FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 11/21/2019 4:27 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/22/2019 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 97882-4

Court of Appeals, Div. 1, No. 78025-5

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RICHARD L. FERGUSON, Petitioner,

v.

BAKER LAW FIRM, P.S., ET AL., Respondent,

PRELIMINARY PETITION FOR REVIEW

Richard L. Ferguson Pro Se Petitioner 20012 72nd DR SE Snohomish, WA 98296 ferg099@comcast.net 360-668-9878

A.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER									
B.	COURT OF APPEALS DECISION.									
C.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW									
D.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE									
	1. Introduction									
	2. Background									
	3. Procedural History									
E.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOUD BE ACCEPTED									
	1. There are Conflicts in Washington law, Which the Court of Appeals Did Not Resolve, and Must be Clarified and Resolved by the Supreme Court Because They Involve Issues of Substantial Public Interest Affecting Every Employee's Right to Make Claims Against Their Employer For an Employer's Criminal Violations of RCW 50.36.030 and Unfairly Punish Employees for Bringing Such Claims Due to RCW 4.24.510.									
	2. The Petition Involves Issues of Substantial Public Interest Affecting Rights of Pro Se Parties to Pursue Claims Under Washington's Constitution.									
	3. The Decision Directly Conflicts With Prior Decisions of the Washington Supreme Court.									
F.	CONCLUSION									
G.	APPENDIX									

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

TO BE SUPPLEMENTED/AMENDED

TABLE OF CASES

PAGE

Davis v. Cox, 183 Wn.2d 269, 351 P.3d 862 (2015) *Marbury v. Madison*, 5 U.S. (1 Cranch) 137, 163, 2 L. Ed. 60 (1803) . . . *Coggle v. Snow*, 56 Wn.App. 499, 507, 784 P.2d 554 (1990).

LIST OF STATUES

CW 4.24.510
CW 50.36.030
CW 4.24.525
CW 49.44.010
CW Title 50
CW 4.84.185
CW 4.56.110(4)
CW 19.52.020

RULES

R 26
R 12(b)(6)
R 12(f)
R 15 (a)
R 11

NARRATIVE REPORT OF PROCEEDINGS

NRP p. 7:3-7
NRP p. 6:26-7:2
NRP p. 7:10-11
NRP p. 3:1-10
NRP p. 3:13-21
NRP p. 6:7-7:16
NRP p. 3:2-6, 8:1-6
NRP p. 4:1-5:20
NRP p. 4:1-6:2
NRP p. 3:13-20

VERBATIM REPORT OF PROCEEDINGS

CLERK'S PAPERS

CP 765-800
CP 710-748
CP 685-686
CP 379-380
CP 708-709
CP 376-378
CP 304-328
СР 667-684
СР 386-666
СР 365-369
CP 277-283
CP 304-328
CP 245-247
CP 381-383
CP 370-372
CP 238, 248, 287, 329
$Cr 230, 240, 207, 329 \dots \dots$
CP 221:2-12.
CP 221:2-12
CP 221:2-12 CP 384-666
CP 221:2-12 CP 384-666 CP 31:9-18
CP 221:2-12. CP 384-666. CP 31:9-18. CP 54:20-55:2.
CP 221:2-12. CP 384-666. CP 31:9-18. CP 54:20-55:2. CP 172-181.
CP 221:2-12. CP 384-666. CP 31:9-18. CP 54:20-55:2. CP 172-181. CP 182-191.
CP 221:2-12. CP 384-666. CP 31:9-18. CP 54:20-55:2. CP 172-181. CP 182-191. CP 37-41.
CP 221:2-12. CP 384-666. CP 31:9-18. CP 54:20-55:2. CP 172-181. CP 182-191. CP 37-41. CP 42-55.
CP 221:2-12. CP 384-666. CP 31:9-18. CP 54:20-55:2. CP 172-181. CP 182-191. CP 37-41. CP 42-55. CP 32-33.
CP 221:2-12. CP 384-666. CP 31:9-18. CP 54:20-55:2. CP 172-181. CP 182-191. CP 37-41. CP 42-55. CP 32-33. CP 34-36.
CP 221:2-12. CP 384-666. CP 31:9-18. CP 54:20-55:2. CP 172-181. CP 172-181. CP 182-191. CP 37-41. CP 42-55. CP 32-33. CP 34-36. CP 30-31.

CP	536:9-11	•••		•••		•••	•••	•	••	• •	•	•	••	• •	•	• •	•	•	•		•	•		••	•	•••	•	•	••		
СР	727:3-73	31:24	• • •	•••	•••	• •			•		•		•		• •	•	•	•••	• •		•		•	•		•	• •		•		
CP	308, 318	-319	•••	•••		•••	•		•		•			•		•		•	• •	•	•		•		•	•			•		
СР	731-732.							•			•	•			•		•	• •	•		•	•		• •	•		•	•	•		
СР	742:14 .			••	•••	•••					•		•								•		•		•						
СР	277-283.							•			•	•			•		•	• •	•		•	•		• •	•		•	•	•		
СР	245-365.										•	•			•			• •	•		•	•			•		•	•	•	•	
СР	669:12 .			••	• •					•••	•		•								•		•	•	•						

TO BE AMENDED / SUPPLEMENTED

A. IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONER

(To be supplemented/amended).

The Petitioner, Richard L. Ferguson is a pro se party. Mr. Ferguson is not an attorney, and is not a law school student. Mr. Ferguson is a 59-year old paralegal with an Associate Degree and approximately 25+ years of paralegal experience, mostly as a commercial litigation defense paralegal.

Mr. Ferguson represented himself because he could not find suitable counsel before the statute of limitations deadline. Mr. Ferguson believed he had an attorney. However, that attorney became too busy on another case, and declined Mr. Ferguson's case <u>at the last minute</u>. Due to the statute of limitations deadline, Mr. Ferguson filed pro se. Mr. Ferguson's efforts to obtain suitable counsel have not been successful.

Mr. Ferguson has not been able to obtain employment with a law firm since being terminated, due to blacklisting by the Defendants, including Gary Baker and the Baker Law Firm. Mr. Ferguson does not have legal assistance of any kind, other than himself, and relies on research available via the internet on various websites, including (https://advance.lexis.com/) and sites maintained by the State of

PRELIMINARY PETITION FOR REVIEW - 1

Washington. None of these sites are as good as subscription sites used by law firms, which are much faster, allow cross-referencing, and Shepardizing, but cost hundreds or thousands of dollars.

Mr. Ferguson can readily handle paralegal tasks. However, Mr. Ferguson is not as fast as an attorney might be, lacks adequate resources, and requires more time to complete attorney-type of work on his own behalf. The Courts have been unsympathetic to Mr. Ferguson in his pro se efforts. Mr. Ferguson intends to amend this brief to add citations and additional facts.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

(To be supplemented/amended).

This is a petition for review of an unpublished Court of Appeals (COA) Decision in Ferguson v. Baker Law Firm, et al., No. 78025-5, dated August 19, 2019, and the subsequent denial of Mr. Ferguson's Motion for Reconsideration, entered on October 22, 2019.

The COA ruling identifies decisions on four issues:

- 1) Motion to Continue (Baker MSJ);
- Decision on Motion to Continue (Laurence MSJ) and Motion to Strike Evidence;
- 3) Summary Judgment Dismissal;

 Award of Attorney Fees [and \$40,000.00 in sanctions] (against Ferguson).

Most of the facts stated in the Court of Appeals Decision rely on conclusory statements made by the Defendants in an administrative proceeding. The conclusory statements are not supported by any objective evidence, primarily, the accusation that Mr. Ferguson came to work smelling like alcohol. All defendants admitted that they did not smell alcohol on Mr. Ferguson's breath during his ten months of employment at the Baker Law Firm. Defendants Matheson, Chavez and Laurence admitted that they never said anything to Mr. Ferguson about an odor of any kind, including an odor of alcohol. All defendants admitted that no client ever complained of an odor of alcohol on Mr. Ferguson. Baker admitted that he did not document the reason for termination as alcoholrelated. Baker also has no recollection or documentation of any warnings provided to Ferguson, other than his memo dated January 21, 2015, after which he was advised by Mr. Ferguson that there was no alcohol, and there could not have possibly been an odor of alcohol. Baker admitted that it was an assumption that Mr. Ferguson's body odor smelled of alcohol. Mr. Ferguson.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

(To be supplemented/amended).

1. The Facts Relied on by the COA are Disputed

Mr. Ferguson's motion to strike evidence was still pending at the time the summary judgment motions were heard. The unresolved Motion to Strike Evidence is clear and convincing evidence that the facts were in dispute at the time of the summary judgment hearings. Mr. Fergusons motions to continue the summary judgment motions should have been granted.

The COA relied entirely on conclusory statements made by defendants from the Administrative Unemployment Hearings that were the subject of the Motion to Strike. The conclusory allegations relied on by the COA are not supported by any objective evidence, and are prejudicial to Mr. Ferguson, and do not comply with the Rules of Evidence for Superior Court in the State of Washington.

Furthermore, at the time of the Summary Judgment Hearings, the primary evidence in the record was in dispute, and was the subject of Mr. Ferguson's Motion to Strike Evidence. The 456-page transcript from the four administrative hearings, along with the Declaration and Supplemental

PRELIMINARY PETITION FOR REVIEW - 4

Declaration of Mr. Ferguson, clearly show that these facts were in dispute. and Declarations Produced by Laurence and Baker. The 456-page transcript was the subject of Mr. Ferguson's Motion to Strike Evidence. Mr. Ferguson argued that the Motion to Strike needed to be resolved before any motions for summary judgment were heard. The Court refused to make a determination on the evidence before hearing the Motions for Summary Judgment.

There are Conflicts Between RCW 50.36.030 and RCW
 4.24.510 Which the COA Did Not Resolve.

The Order granting \$40.000.00 in sanctions to Defendants under RCW 4.24.510 should be reversed because, a) because the claims involve information provided to the ESD by the Employer and his agents in violation of RCW 50.36.030, a criminal statute, which cannot be considered information "reasonably of interest to the agency" under RCW 4.24.510, and b) because by violating RCW 50.36.030 the information at issue was provided to the agency by the employer in bad faith.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

(To be supplemented/amended).

1. Introduction

PRELIMINARY PETITION FOR REVIEW - 5

Mr. Ferguson is a former employee of Defendant Gary Baker and the Baker Law Firm, P.S., a plaintiff personal injury firm, where Mr. Ferguson worked for approximately 10 months. Mr. Ferguson was terminated for not settling cases quickly enough, when clients were still treating, and cases were not ready to settle. Defendant Baker ran a plaintiff litigation factory, where he wanted to bring in clients, get money, and send them on their way. Mr. Baker received 33% of settlement proceeds, and often received far more than his clients, after their insurance companies took a share. Mr. Ferguson did not think that what Mr. Baker was doing was ethical. Mr. Ferguson was then terminated for not settling cases fast enough.

After applying for unemployment benefits, Mr. Ferguson was accused by Gary Baker and his agents of smelling like alcohol at work. On cross-examination at Mr. Ferguson's unemployment hearing, they all admitted that they had never smelled alcohol on Mr. Ferguson's Breath. Instead, Baker alleged that it was Mr. Ferguson's body odor. Baker admitted that he did not document the reason for termination as alcohol related. After Mr. Ferguson sought unemployment benefits under RCW Title 50, Baker claimed Mr. Ferguson was terminated for smelling like alcohol at work. Baker and his employees told ESD horrible conclusory

PRELIMINARY PETITION FOR REVIEW - 6

statements regarding an alleged odor of alcohol, none of which have any basis in fact, never occurred, were never told to Mr. Ferguson on any specific day while he was employed, and are unsupported by any objective evidence.

Mr. Ferguson was never accused of smelling like alcohol, ever, during 10 months of employment. The memo dated January 21, 2015, provided by the employer was a pretext to accuse Mr. Ferguson of something that he never did, so that Baker could avoid having his unemployment premiums increased after firing Mr. Ferguson. Despite all of the appeals, every single judge came to Baker's rescue, despite a complete lack of evidence or documentation in favor of Baker. Baker stated there were multiple warnings, but has no documentation and no recollection of when such warnings occurred. There were no such warnings, other than a bizarre, unspecific statement made to Mr. Ferguson by Baker, about Mr. Ferguson playing in a band and having long hair.

Baker was able to get away with all the lies, based on his credibility as a lawyer. This was a horrible injustice, not only because Ferguson was denied unemployment benefits based on complete nonsense, but also because of the blacklisting by Baker that destroyed Mr. Ferguson's personal and professional reputation. This was an absolute

PRELIMINARY PETITION FOR REVIEW - 7

injustice, unsupported by any evidence whatsoever. Ferguson sued Baker and his agents for their conduct.

2. Background

(To be supplemented/amended).

Washington State Rules of Civil Procedure assume that attorneys or law firms, and their partners, paralegals and secretaries are doing the work, and do not take into consideration hurdles encountered by pro se parties. Judges have considerable discretion to adjust many deadlines to accommodate pro se parties who are struggling to meet deadlines. They also have considerable discretion to play favorites when a non-lawyer is suing a lawyer, especially when the lawyer being sued is a friend of the Trial Court Judge and/or her husband, as in this case.

Mr. Ferguson initially made a claim for unemployment benefits under Title 50 RCW, which has previously been through the appeals process. This is <u>not</u> that case. Furthermore, that case, including findings of fact made under relaxed rules of evidence under administrative law, cannot be used to determine this matter, which is subject to rules of evidence for Superior Court.

This matter is a separate suit that includes claims against the employer that could not be resolved under Title 50 RCW. Much of the

PRELIMINARY PETITION FOR REVIEW - 8

evidence that was allowed in that case under relaxed Rules of Evidence for Administrative Procedure, should not be admissible in a case filed in Superior Court. Nevertheless, the trial court and the Court of Appeals determined this case based on conclusory statements that do not comply with Superior Court Rules of Civil Procedure.

3. Procedural History

This matter was filed in Snohomish County Superior Court under

Cause No. 17-2-07335-321.

This was appealed to the Washington Court of Appeals under

matter no. 78025-5-1.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

(To be supplemented/amended).

1. There are Conflicts in Washington law, Which the Court of Appeals Did Not Resolve, and Must be Clarified and Resolved by the Supreme Court Because They Involve Issues of Substantial Public Interest Affecting Every Employee's Right to Make Claims Against Their Employer For an Employer's Criminal Violations of RCW 50.36.030 and Unfairly Punish Employees for Bringing Such Claims Due to RCW 4.24.510.

(To be supplemented/amended)

Mr. Ferguson's claims against the employer for the employer's

violations of RCW 50.36.030 were dismissed because the Trial Court

ruled that the employer has immunity from such claims under RCW

PRELIMINARY PETITION FOR REVIEW - 9

4.24.510. Mr. Ferguson was also ordered to pay the employer and his agents \$40,000.00 in sanctions, plus attorney fees.

RCW 50.36.030 makes it a criminal offense for an employer and his agents (defendants) to provide information to the Employment Security Department regarding the cause of separation that was not provided to the employee at the time of separation. Some, but not all of Mr. Ferguson's claims alleged the employer and his agents did just that. Mr. Ferguson alleged that it was a breach of the terms and conditions of his employment because the employer must comply with all aspects of Title 50 RCW, even after termination, and the employer and his agents failed to do so.

RCW 4.24.510 states that a person who communicates information to any agency "reasonably of concern to that agency" is immune from civil liability. Mr. Ferguson argued before the Trial Court and the Court of Appeals that his claims against the employer and his agents were due to their violations of RCW 50.36.030. The Legislature has determined that it is a criminal misdemeanor for the employer and his agents to provide the information Mr. Ferguson alleges they provided in violation of RCW 50.36.030. As such, that information does not meet the definition of information "reasonably of concern to that agency" because it is illegal for

PRELIMINARY PETITION FOR REVIEW - 10

the employer and his agents to provide it in the first place. Mr. Ferguson argued that the employer and his agents should have no immunity from civil claims under RCW 4.24.510 for their violations of RCW 50.36.030 because the illegal information cannot be considered to be "of reasonable concern to the agency."

Even if it is determined that the employer and his agents have such immunity, their actions were done in bad faith because they were illegal. Under RCW 4.24.510 the statutory damages should not be awarded if the information provided was done in bad faith. Sanctions of \$40,000.00 awarded in favor of the employer and his agents should be reversed because the employer provided the information in bad faith, i.e., in violation of a criminal statute (RCW 50.36.030).

Additionally, the proper method for bringing a claim under RCW 4.24.510 is by following the procedures set out in RCW 4.24.525 and filing a Motion to Strike. The employer failed to do that.

Furthermore, the Washington Supreme Court has already determined that RCW 4.24.525 is unconstitutional because it requires the Trial Court to weigh evidence. <u>Davis v. Cox</u>, 183 Wn.2d 269, 351 P.3d 862 (2015). In the present matter, the Trial Court had to make the following determinations of material fact:

- a. Was the information provided by the employer and his agents to the ESD regarding the cause of separation contrary to, or different than the information provided to Mr. Ferguson at the time of separation?
- b. Was the information provided by the employer and his agents of reasonable concern to the agency?
- c. Were the actions of the employer and his agents done in bad faith?

Mr. Ferguson's constitutional rights were violated, because the Trial Court made these determinations of fact without allowing Mr. Ferguson the right to a jury trial, and without ruling on the evidence which was in limbo. Mr. Ferguson's Motion to Strike Evidence was not decided until after the summary judgment hearings. Mr. Ferguson had moved to strike the 456-page transcript presented as an exhibit to the Baker Declaration from the Administrative Court, as a whole, while allowing certain pages on a case by case basis. Mr. Ferguson's Motion to Strike was made to avoid contaminating the record with a ridiculous amount of unnecessary, prejudicial testimony, and conclusory statements by the

PRELIMINARY PETITION FOR REVIEW - 12

employer that do not comply with Rules of Evidence for Superior Court. Due to the pending Motion to Strike, Mr. Ferguson could not present any of that evidence until after the Trial Court ruled on that motion, which the Trial Court refused to do until after the hearings.

The Trial Court violated Mr. Ferguson's Constitutional rights by denying him the opportunity to present evidence in support of his claims, and to have issues of fact decided by a jury, rather than the Trial Court.

Finally, even if claims are not allowed against certain individual defendants under RCW 4.24.510, the claims should still stand against Defendants Baker Law Firm and Strittmatter Kessler, because immunity under RCW 4.24.510 only applies to a "person," and these businesses do not meet the definition of a "person." All claims against the businesses are valid and should not have been dismissed.

2. The Petition Involves Issues of Substantial Public Interest Affecting Rights of Pro Se Parties to Pursue Claims Under Washington's Constitution.

(To be supplemented/amended).

Mr. Ferguson is a pro se party, who was unable to obtain suitable counsel prior to filing his claims against his employer. Mr. Ferguson does not have the legal assistance and resources available to him that would be expected from a law office. Mr. Ferguson is capable of researching case

PRELIMINARY PETITION FOR REVIEW - 13

law, drafting documents, and generally complying with deadlines. There are times when Mr. Ferguson has been overwhelmed, and needed more time to respond.

In the present matter, Mr. Ferguson filed his Complaint (Amended Complaint) and served the Defendants. In lieu of answering the Complaint, the Defendants split themselves into two groups, the Baker Defendants, and the Laurence Defendants, and filed two separate motions for summary judgment. Both Baker and Laurence are attorneys, who each hired additional attorneys, so that Mr. Ferguson could be bullied out of his claims. Mr. Ferguson responded by filing Motions to Continue both motions, and a motion to strike evidence. Mr. Ferguson requested that the motion to strike evidence be resolved first, and that he be allowed more time to respond to the summary judgment motions after the Trial Court ruled on the Motion to Strike, and before the summary judgment motions were heard. The Trial Court denied his requests.

CR 56(f) allows parties to request a continuance to allow time to conduct discovery prior to determining a motion for summary judgment. Additionally, the Court of Appeals has previously ruled in favor of allowing discovery prior to determining issues of fact on summary judgment. As the Court of Appeals, Division I, previously stated, in

PRELIMINARY PETITION FOR REVIEW - 14

reversing a Trial Court's refusal to grant a continuance of a summary judgment hearing, "The primary consideration in the Trial Court's decision on the motion for a continuance should have been justice...We fail to see how justice is served by a draconian application of time limitations here." *Coggle v. Snow*, 56 Wn.App. 499, 507, 784 P.2d 554 (1990),

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