# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/23/2019 12:23 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 97882-4

#### IN THE SURPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RICHARD L. FERGUSON,

Petitioner,

V.

BAKER LAW FIRM, P.S., ET AL.

Respondents

On Appeal from the Court of Appeals for the State of Washington, Division 1 No. 78025-5

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Mark A. Thompson, WSBA No. 29730 MIX SANDERS THOMPSON, PLLC 1420 Fifth Avenue, Ste. 2200 Seattle, WA 98101 Tel: 206-521-5989

Fax: 888-521-5980

Email: mark@mixsanders.com
Attorney for Respondents Baker Law Firm, P.S., Bakers, Chavez, and
Matheson

#### **

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

#### IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

#### A. Standard of Review.

Pursuant to the Washington Rules of Appellate Procedure, Rule 13.4(b), a petition for review to the Washington Supreme Court is accepted only:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appels is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b).

Mr. Ferguson contends that review is warranted because of alleged conflicts within Washington law regarding an employee's ability to make a claim against his or her employer and that this matter involves an issue of substantial interest. As discussed further below, Mr. Ferguson is mistaken and review is not warranted under any of the criteria established in RAP 13.4(b).

## B. Mr. Ferguson's Defamation Claim Was Dismissed Following the Application of Settled Law to Undisputed Facts.

Mr. Ferguson's primary contention within his petition for review is that the Court of Appeals did not resolve a conflict he perceives between his claim of defamation, his allegations of criminal wrongdoing on the part of Defendants, and the immunity accorded to Defendants for their testimony in the administrative law hearing. The Trial Court's dismissal and the Court of Appeal's decision regarding this dismissal involved the straightforward application of settled law to undisputed facts. Mr. Ferguson's argument lacks merit and the Court should decline his Petition for Review.

Mr. Ferguson alleges that Defendants violated RCW 50.36.030 and conspired to violate RCW 50.36.030 in testifying at the administrative hearing determining his unemployment benefits. CP 738–739. This statute provides as follows:

Employing units or agents thereof supplying information to the employment security department pertaining to the cause of a benefit claimant's separation from work, which cause stated to the department is contrary to that given the benefit claimant by such employing unit or agent thereof at the time of his or her separation from the employing unit's employ, shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and shall be punished by a fine of not less than twenty dollars nor more than two hundred and fifty dollars or by imprisonment in the county jail for not more than ninety days.

#### RCW 50.36.030.

The trial court properly ruled that, as a matter of law, this statute provides no private right if action such that Mr. Ferguson's claim of criminal conduct failed as a matter of law.

Moreover, even *had* this statute provided for a private right of action, Mr. Ferguson could not prevail on this claim as Mr. Baker informed Mr. Ferguson that his continuous stench of alcohol was the reason for his termination. CP 48, CP 575.

Second, Defendants were indeed entitled to immunity for their testimony during the course of the employment hearing to protect them against the very sort of claims Mr. Ferguson made against them following this hearing. RCW 4.24.510 provides for complete immunity from civil liability for claims arising out of communication to a government agency regarding any matter of concern to that agency. It provides in relevant part:

A person who communicates a complaint or information to any branch or agency of federal, state, or local government, . . . is immune from civil liability for claims based upon the communication to the agency or organization regarding any matter reasonably of concern to that agency or organization. A person prevailing upon the defense provided for in this section is entitled to recover expenses and reasonable attorneys' fees incurred in establishing the defense and in addition shall receive statutory damages of ten thousand dollars. Statutory damages may be denied if the court finds that the complaint or information was communicated in bad faith.

#### RCW 4.24.510.

Judicial proceedings, such as the hearing that occurred on May 26, 2015 before Administrative Law Judge David Turplesmith, are accorded absolute privilege. *Twelker v. Shannon & Wilson, Inc.*, 88 Wn.2d 473, 475–75, 564 P.2d 1131, 1133 (1977). The purpose of this immunity is to ensure judgments are based upon the full disclosure of facts, unhampered by fear of defamation suits. *Id.* This absolute privilege is also accorded to administrative law hearings. *Hurst v. Farmer*, 40 Wn. App. 116, 117, 697 P.2d 280, *review denied*, 103 Wn.2d 1038 (1985) ("Statements made during the course of and relevant to the proceedings of an administrative agency acting in a quasi-judicial manner are absolutely privileged.").

The Baker Defendants' testimony cannot support a defamation claim. It is absolutely privileged and RCW 4.24.510 was enacted to preserve

the immunity witnesses enjoy and to ensure participation in legal proceedings such as the ESD administrative hearing.

Third, Mr. Ferguson's defamation claim was also time barred such that dismissal of this claim was appropriate even had the Superior Court not considered the merits of this claim and Defendants' immunity from it in its decision to grant Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment.

Washington law requires actions for defamation be brought within two years. RCW 4.16.100. This limitation begins to run on the date the plaintiff knew or should have known all of the essential elements of the cause of action. *Phoenix Trading, Inc. v. Loops LLC*, 732 F.2d 936, 943 (9th Cir. 2013). Mr. Ferguson was present at the May 26, 2015 hearing where the allegedly defamatory statements occurred, so he had immediate knowledge of the allegedly defamatory statements. CP 502. Yet, he did not file his Complaint in the underlying matter until July 20, 2017, or over two years after this hearing took place.

Finally, Mr. Ferguson's claim of defamation failed because the testimony at issue from the Baker Law Firm employees was not false. Mr. Ferguson admitted during the hearing he was aware that his continual alcohol odor was an issue at work. *Id.* Thus, employees testifying to this

fact does not constitute false statements that could give rise to a defamation claim.

Mr. Ferguson's defamation claim was untimely, based upon a statute that did not provide a private right of action, lacked merit, and was barred by the immunity accorded to Defendants during their testimony in the administrative law hearing. His claim failed as a matter of settled law. The Court should decline Mr. Ferguson's petition for review.

### C. Mr. Ferguson's Petition Does Not Involve Any Issues of Substantial Public Interest.

Mr. Ferguson claims his Petition regards "issues of substantial public interest affecting rights of pro se parties to pursue claims under Washington's Constitution." Yet he fails to provide how the dismissal of his claims against Defendants affects the public whatsoever as well as how this dismissal was in violation of the Washington State Constitution. Indeed, Mr. Ferguson's primary contention seems to be his belief he was treated unfairly by the Superior Court's requirement that he abide by the rules of civil procedure, as is required of all parties in litigation.

The Superior Court properly denied Mr. Ferguson's Motion to Continue as Mr. Ferguson failed to conduct any discovery in this matter despite having filed his original Complaints months prior to Defendants summary judgment filings, failed to provide good cause as to why no discovery had been done, and failed to demonstrate any genuine issue of material fact regarding his claims despite the fact that many of the facts creating such an issue would have been within his firsthand knowledge of his dismissal regardless of his discovery efforts.

To obtain a continuance pursuant to CR 56(f), the moving party must provide why he was unable to obtain specific facts to demonstrate a genuine issue of material fact. *Davis v. Cox*, 180 Wn. App. 514, 540, 325 P.2d 225 (Div. 1 2014), *reversed on other grounds*, 183 Wn.2d 269 (2015) (citations omitted). Denying a motion for continuance is appropriate when "(1) the requesting party does not have a good reason for the delay in obtaining the evidence, (2) the requesting party does not indicate what evidence would be established by further discovery, or (3) the new evidence would not raise a genuine issue of fact." *Perez-Crisantos v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.*, 187 Wn.2d 669, 686, 389 P.3d 476 (2017).

Mr. Ferguson first filed his Complaint on July 20, 2017. CP 765–800. He did not serve discovery requests upon Defendants at that time. CP 185. Mr. Ferguson then filed an Amended Complaint two months later, on September 15, 2017. CP 710–748. Again, he did not serve discovery requests upon Defendants. CP 185. When Mr. Ferguson sought to continue Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment to provide additional time for discovery, he could provide no good reason for his delay in obtaining any

supporting evidence for his claims until that point in the litigation. CP 185. He also could not state what evidence he would obtain from discovery, were his continuance granted, nor how this evidence would create a genuine issue of material fact for any of his claims. CP 186.

Mr. Ferguson also objects to the timing of the Superior Court's hearing on his Motion to Strike. RCW 2.28.010 provides specific powers to every court of justice in the State. It specifically empowers courts "to provide for the orderly conduct of proceedings before it or its officers." *See*, RCW 2.28.010. Accordingly, the Superior Court presiding over Mr. Ferguson's claims had every right to consider motions in whatever order it deemed relevant. Mr. Ferguson cannot demonstrate any prejudice he experienced in the timing of the motions as they were heard.

## D. The Decision Does Not Conflict With Prior Decisions of the Washington State Supreme Court or the Court of Appeals.

Mr. Ferguson provides only two citations in support of his argument that the Court of Appeals' opinion conflicts with prior decisions by this Court and other appellate decisions. He cites to *Davis v. Cox*, 183 Wn.2d 269, 351 p.3d 862 (2015), and *Coggle v. Snow*, 56 Wn. App. 499, 507, 784 P.2d 554 (1990), but provides no explanation for what is intended by these citations or how the Court of Appeals' decision directly conflicts with them.

It is assumed Mr. Ferguson cites to *Davis v. Cox* for his argument that the Court improperly awarded costs and fees to Defendants following dismissal of Mr. Ferguson's claims against them. *Davis v. Cox* is inapplicable to the present case, however, as that ruling regarded RCW 4.24.525 and the new procedure it created for adjudicating SLAPP claims separate from civil procedure that was not present in previous anti-SLAPP statutes. 183 Wn.2d 269, 276, 351 P.3d 862 (2015), *abrogated by, Mayton Sand and Gravel, LLC v. Thurston County*, 423 P.3d 23 (2018). The Court in *Davis* took issue with the procedure in RCW 4.24.525(4)(b) requiring a trial court to weigh the evidence before it and make a factual determination of a plaintiff's probability of prevailing on his or her SLAPP claim, a determination made by a showing of only a preponderance of the evidence by the moving party, when determining whether to dismiss a matter. *Id.* at 281.

RCW 4.24.510, the statutory authority in support of Defendants' fee award, has no such provision allowing for a means of adjudication separate from summary judgment or jury trial. In this matter, Defendants prevailed in dismissing this claim by bringing a motion for summary judgment and demonstrating there was no genuine issues as to material fact that Mr. Ferguson's claim arose from communications to a government agency protected from liability under RCW 4.24.510. By the plain language of this

statute, the Baker Defendants – as the prevailing parties on the defense afforded by the statute – are entitled to expenses and reasonable attorneys' fees incurred in defending against Mr. Ferguson's claim as well as statutory damages in the amount of \$10,000.00 per Defendant. This was the measure of damages accorded by the trial court, properly imposed under constitutional statutory authority.

The Court of Appeals' decision to uphold this proper award of costs and fees to Defendants following their defense of Mr. Ferguson's meritless claims is not contradictory to *Davis v. Cox*. There is no basis for this Court's review.

The Court of Appeal's decision also does not conflict with *Coggle* v. *Snow.* 56 Wn. App. 499, 784 P.2d 554 (1990). In *Coggle*, the Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's denial of the plaintiff's motion to continue and deemed genuine issues of material fact existed regarding whether the defendant doctor had deviated from the accepted standard of medical care and informed consent. Plaintiff sought to continue the defendant's summary judgment motion in light of the fact he had recently obtained new counsel and he had valid reasons as to why he was unable to obtain a declaration from one of his treating providers, who was predicted to opine that defendant had breached his duty of care, in time for plaintiff's response. The Court of Appeals determined the trial court abused its discretion in

denying plaintiff's motion to continue because plaintiff provided good cause for this continuance in light of the valid reasons he was unable to produce his doctor's declaration in time for the summary judgment hearing, his counsel's inability to prepare for summary judgment having filed his notice of association one week after the defendant filed his motion for summary judgment, and because the plaintiff identified the evidence he sought and how it would create a genuine issue of material fact.

Continue, Mr. Ferguson could not provide a good reason for his delay in obtaining any evidence supporting his claims, he could not state with specificity what evidence would be obtained from discovery, were additional time granted, nor could he provide how this evidence would create a genuine issue of material fact for any of the claims he put forward. CP 186. In asserting his need for additional discovery, Mr. Ferguson provided only vague, conclusory statements regarding what evidence was needed. CP 186. Mr. Ferguson failed to meet the minimum requirements necessary to support his motion to continue the summary judgment hearings.

Moreover, Mr. Ferguson failed to demonstrate a genuine issue of material fact for any of his claims even where certain facts that could have created such an issue should have been within Mr. Ferguson's knowledge

regardless of discovery. Specifically, facts supporting his wrongful termination and breach of contract claims should have been readily available to him as the person who allegedly reached agreement with Baker Law Firm elevating his status from an 'at will' employee or forming a contractual relationship with it. However, Mr. Ferguson could provide no such facts even though given ample opportunity and time by the trial court.

Simply put, the Trial Court's dismissal of Mr. Ferguson's claims and the Court of Appeal's affirming of this dismissal were both proper, based in valid Washington law, and should not be reviewed nor reversed by this Court.

#### V. ATTORNEY'S FEES AND COSTS

Washington Rules of Appellate Procedure allow for an award of fees where supported by law. RAP 18.1(a). Pursuant to RCW 4.24.510, a person prevailing upon a defense under this statute is entitled to recover expenses, reasonable attorney's fees, and statutory damages of \$10,000. Further, CR 11 provides that an appropriate sanction may be imposed by the court, either upon motion or upon its own initiative, upon the party who signed a pleading, motion, or legal memorandum that is not well grounded nor warranted by law or is filed for any improper purpose.

Defendants have incurred significant cost and expense of time and resources in defending against Mr. Ferguson's meritless claims.

Consequently, if this Court denies Mr. Ferguson's Petition, Defendants respectfully request that the Court award reasonable attorney's fees and costs to them pursuant to RAP 18.1(a) for the time spent in preparing an Answer to this Petition.

#### VI. CONCLUSION

Appellees Baker Law Firm, P.S., Gary L. Baker, Darcy Baker, Brenda Chavez, Kelly Matheson, and Richard Matheson respectfully request the Court deny Mr. Ferguson's Petition for Review and award all reasonable attorney fees and costs to Defendants pursuant to RAP 18.1.